
Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, October 24, 2016 
1 

The meeting of the Community Development Authority of the City of Onalaska was called to 1 
order at 4:00 p.m. on Monday, October 24, 2016.  It was noted that the meeting had been 2 
announced and a notice posted at City Hall. 3 
 4 
Roll call was taken with the following members present:  Ald. Jim Olson, Ron Johnson, John 5 
Lyche, Ann Brandau, Mike Gargaro 6 
 7 
Also Present:  Interim Land Use and Development Director Katie Aspenson 8 
 9 
Excused Absences:  Ald. Barry Blomquist 10 
 11 
Item 2 – Approval of minutes from the previous meeting 12 
 13 
Motion by John, second by Ann, to approve the minutes from the previous meeting as printed 14 
and on file in the City Clerk’s Office. 15 
 16 
On voice vote, motion carried. 17 
 18 
Item 3 – Public Input (limited to 3 minutes/individual) 19 
 20 
Mike called three times for anyone wishing to provide public input and closed that portion of the 21 
meeting. 22 
 23 

Consideration and possible action on the following items: 24 
 25 
Item 4 – Update and discussion on the Building the Great River Landing Project 26 
 27 
Katie noted completion of the breezeway entrance between the two trailhead buildings and said 28 
paving will occur shortly.  Landscaping is expected to be completed in November.  Katie said 29 
both the building and the parking lot plaza area still are on target to be completed by mid-30 
December. 31 
 32 
John inquired about the project budget. 33 
 34 
Katie said the project still is on budget and that it should be nearing completion by the time the 35 
CDA meets again in November.  Katie also noted that work is being done on the roof, the 36 
interiors of the office, and the restrooms and showers. 37 
 38 
Katie said there currently are two projects in the 2017 Capital Improvements Budget tied to the 39 
Great River Landing:  tree clearing and the Railroad Quiet Zone Study.  Katie said she hopes 40 
there will be a grand opening ceremony in the spring of 2017 at the Great River Landing.  41 

Reviewed 10/26/16 by Katie Aspenson 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, October 24, 2016 
2 

Individuals who utilize the site will be asked what the next step should be. 42 
 43 
Ron noted there are instances when the trees along the Great River State Trail are overgrown, 44 
thereby making the river unviewable. 45 
 46 
Katie said the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources is in charge of maintaining those 47 
trees. 48 
 49 
John inquired about the protocol involved with obtaining Wisconsin DNR approval and/or 50 
funding to trim the trees. 51 
 52 
Katie said she will look into this. 53 
 54 
Ann said the section of the trail in question probably is less utilized than other sections and 55 
suggested perhaps inviting Wisconsin DNR officials to see the Great River Landing Project. 56 
 57 
Ald. Olson said he had had a conversation with an individual who said he believes the 58 
construction of a covered bridge, with possible assistance from the Wisconsin DNR, would 59 
attract a significant number of visitors. 60 
 61 
Item 5 – Discussion and consideration of an amendment to the Unified Development Code 62 
(UDC) regarding draft language for the creation of a new Medical Campus Zoning District 63 
 64 
Katie told CDA members she has met with representatives both from Gundersen Health System 65 
and Mayo Health System.  Katie said Mayo Health System’s representatives told her they had no 66 
significant comment on the ordinance at this time.  However, Mayo’s representative expressed 67 
reservations related to the architectural component because it is reviewed by staff through the 68 
site plan process.  Katie said Mayo’s representative had expressed concerns regarding the future; 69 
specifically, the individual who would be reviewing architecture might not be as flexible as 70 
current city staff.  Katie said she believes Mayo’s representative had raised a fair question and 71 
that city staff can be more prescriptive.  However, Katie said the intent in writing the code this 72 
way is to name desired building materials and leave the decision regarding implementation up to 73 
the medical facility.  Katie said she told Mayo’s representative Mayo may take one of the 74 
following steps if city staff reviews a site plan and denies it: 75 
 76 

• Take the matter before the Board of Zoning Appeals and appeal the decision. 77 
• The Plan Commission can review any site plan. 78 

 79 
Katie said Gundersen Health System’s representatives, Michael Richards and Laura Olson, had 80 
raised questions regarding conditional uses; to be specific, why they are listed as conditional uses 81 
versus being outright permitted.  Katie referred to a copy of the draft ordinance included in CDA 82 

Reviewed 10/26/16 by Katie Aspenson 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, October 24, 2016 
3 

member’s packets and said Gundersen’s representatives had called out (j)(2) (“In-patient mental 83 
health facilities”) under “Conditional Uses.”  Gundersen’s representatives said this is a service 84 
that is offered like surgery and stated they believe this should be relocated to “Permitted Uses.”  85 
Katie said city staff’s reasoning for placing it under “Conditional Uses” is because it was viewed 86 
more along the lines of a group home facility and not typically in a hospital setting.  Katie said 87 
the uses listed under “Conditional Uses” are based on the consultant’s research. 88 
 89 
John said he believes Gundersen’s representatives consider this a short-term stay, and it also is a 90 
hospitalization rather than a group home. 91 
 92 
Katie said it will be possible to change it to short-term versus long term, or it may be moved up 93 
and a new conditional use focusing on group homes or long-term mental health facilities can be 94 
created. 95 
 96 
John said he believes all the items under “Conditional Uses” should include the verbiage “long-97 
term,” perhaps being defined as more than a 30-day stay. 98 
 99 
Katie said there also had been a request to better define “medical campus.”  Katie noted that 100 
Gundersen’s previous site, which now houses a care facility/nursing home, is larger than 5 acres 101 
and is medical-oriented.  Katie asked if this facility should be allowed to utilize this district. 102 
 103 
John said he does not believe it should. 104 
 105 
Katie said the city does not yet have a reason to say no.  However, Katie also noted the facility 106 
could apply under the Conditional Use Permit.  Katie said staff has crafted the following 107 
definition of a MCD: “A group of establishments in one or more buildings designed as a 108 
coherent group to concentrate outpatient or short-term, inpatient medical care and services, and 109 
offer a variety of medical services to promote practice, teaching and progress in medicine and 110 
care of patients.” 111 
 112 
Katie said another topic discussed was the minimum lot area, noting that the city currently 113 
requires a minimum of 5 acres.  Katie said a question was asked what would occur if a road cuts 114 
through a 5-acre parcel owned by Gundersen, noting the parcel would not be completely 115 
contiguous but Gundersen owns it and likely would want the entire area.  Katie said, “Our 116 
compromise that we thought was that if you need at least 5 acres of contiguous land, and if there 117 
are roadways disconnecting it, as long as it’s under the same ownership you can expand beyond 118 
those boundaries.”  Katie said it is possible roads will go through the future Mayo site, and that 119 
Mayo could dedicate them back to the city.  Katie also said Mayo could extend its boundary if it 120 
purchased the land owned by Menards across Sand Lake Road. 121 
 122 
John asked if perhaps exclusionary language regarding utilizing non-buildable lands as part of a 123 

Reviewed 10/26/16 by Katie Aspenson 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, October 24, 2016 
4 

5-acre parcel should be included, citing the example of an individual who might own 1 acre of 124 
land and purchase 4 acres of bluffland in an attempt to become an MCD. 125 
 126 
Katie said an individual must apply for a MCD, and one of the rules applying for an undeveloped 127 
land states that a master plan must be created.  Katie said an individual could apply for a Planned 128 
Unit Development, which would be easier and less costly.  Katie said it is to the benefit of an 129 
applicant to utilize the proper code that applies to him/her. 130 
 131 
Mike noted that parking is referenced as a different section and asked if this is why there are no 132 
references to parking spaces. 133 
 134 
Katie referred to “Site Design Elements” in the draft MCD and said it refers to several different 135 
sections of the code. 136 
 137 
Mike asked if the draft MCD lists the maximum number of employees allowed onsite. 138 
 139 
Katie said the number of employees will determine the amount of parking, noting the city only 140 
requires a minimum.  Katie said there is a requirement of one stall for each five hospital beds, or 141 
one stall for each three hospital employees.  For medical clinics, there is a requirement of four 142 
stalls per doctor.  There also is a requirement for one stall per 150 square feet of floor area.  The 143 
requirement for a laboratory or warehouse is 1½ stalls for every two employees.  For retail, there 144 
is a requirement of one stall per 150 square feet of floor area.  A chapel would require one stall 145 
for every five seats or each 90 lineal inches of pew space. 146 
 147 
Katie referenced temporary signage, noting temporary signs on the internal light poles both at 148 
Gundersen and Mayo are utilized for branding.  Katie said that while current ordinances 149 
technically do not allow this, the city recognizes both the need and purpose behind the signage.  150 
Katie said the MCD would allow both Gundersen and Mayo to have temporary signage for 151 
branding purposes. 152 
 153 
John asked if there are limitations on illuminated signage versus passive signage. 154 
 155 
Katie said the city has an ordinance specifying the level of overall brightness.  Katie also said 156 
city staff examines light poles to ensure they are set back, downcast and shielded. 157 
 158 
Katie said the draft MCD also references the fee schedule, noting that a fee will be created.  The 159 
current cost of creating a new PUD is $700 and includes a public hearing.  Katie said city staff 160 
assumes the fee associated with the MCD will be similar to that of a PUD.  Katie said she will 161 
contact representatives both from Gundersen and Mayo to see if they have additional comments, 162 
and that staff intends to schedule a public hearing at the December 20 Plan Commission meeting 163 
if there is no feedback in the next three weeks.  Katie said neither Gundersen nor Mayo has 164 

Reviewed 10/26/16 by Katie Aspenson 
 



Community Development Authority 
of the City of Onalaska 
Monday, October 24, 2016 
5 

commented on a percentage allotment of retail space (something that is not hospital-driven) per 165 
floor of a structure.  Katie said 10 to 20 percent is common. 166 
 167 
John asked if there are any taxing implications. 168 
 169 
Katie said that while hospitals typically are not taxable, retail and clinics are.  Therefore, a 170 
Payment in Lieu of Taxes agreement likely would need to be established. 171 
 172 
John asked if that verbiage should be included. 173 
 174 
Katie said she will move John’s question forward. 175 
 176 
Ald. Olson said a hotel should be taxable pertaining to room tax. 177 
 178 
Katie said the city’s position has been clear regarding establishing PILOT agreements with for-179 
profits located on tax-exempt parcels. 180 
 181 
John asked if there is verbiage regarding religious affiliations, expressing concern that an entity 182 
will state it is a religiously affiliated group and therefore tax-exempt. 183 
 184 
Katie noted that hospitals already are tax-exempt. 185 
 186 
John said the MCD must address for-profit hospitals. 187 
 188 
Adjournment 189 
 190 
Motion by John, second by Ald. Olson, to adjourn at 4:40 p.m. 191 
 192 
On voice vote, motion carried. 193 
 194 
 195 
Recorded by: 196 
 197 
Kirk Bey 198 

Reviewed 10/26/16 by Katie Aspenson 
 


